S267391

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

)	No.
)	
)	DCA No. B301638
)	
)	
IN RE JASMINE JENKINS,)	Superior Court
)	(Los Angeles)
On habeas corpus.)	No. BA467828
)	

PETITION FOR REVIEW

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, LOS ANGELES COUNTY

Honorable Lisa B. Lench, Judge

RUDOLPH J. ALEJO Attorney at Law SBN# 284302 8839 N. Cedar Ave #312 Fresno, CA 93720 (510) 842-5356 Rudolph.AlejoEsq@gmail.com Attorney for Petitioner JASMINE JENKINS

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1) Did the prosecutor suppress material exculpatory evidence, in violation of petitioner's Fourteenth Amendment rights, by failing to disclose the charged victim's prior convictions for three violent felonies?
- 2) Did the prosecutor suppress material exculpatory evidence, in violation of petitioner's Fourteenth Amendment rights, by failing to disclose the state's key witness's prior convictions for three violent felonies?
- 3) May the Attorney General's office, when defending against a *Brady* claim that the prosecutor suppressed material exculpatory evidence, suppress that same material exculpatory evidence?
- 4) Did trial counsel's failure to uncover or introduce evidence of the Williams sisters' prior convictions deprive petitioner of her Sixth Amendment right to ineffective assistance of counsel?
- 5) Did the prejudice from the errors identified in the habeas and direct appeal cumulate to deprive petitioner of her Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process and a fair trial?

REASONS FOR REVIEW

Petitioner discovered that the prosecutor failed to disclose evidence that her own office had successfully prosecuted the charged victim, Brittneeh Williams, in this self-defense case with three violent felonies. Petitioner also discovered that the prosecutor failed to disclose that the charged victim's sister, Sade Williams -- who was the state's key witness at trial -- had also been convicted of three violent felonies in that same case, instead telling defense counsel that Sade had been arrested but never charged.

Petitioner's evidence that the Williams sisters were convicted of three violent felonies stemmed from a Court of Appeal opinion obtained from LexisNexis showing that two sisters with the same first names and last initial as Brittneeh and Sade Williams were convicted of brutally assaulting three women on Halloween of 2006. (See Exh. B, Attachment B to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.)¹ Petitioner's additional evidence was the prosecutor's own *Brady* disclosure, which indicated that Sade Williams had been arrested on identical charges on Halloween of 2006, but falsely claimed that "no . . . charges [were] filed" in that case. (See Exh. B, Attachment A.) Finally, petitioner attached a news article about the prior attack in which the sisters are identified as Brittneeh and Sade Williams. (Exh. A to the Traverse.)

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, all references to exhibits are to those attached to the habeas petition.

At every turn in this case, the Attorney General's office refused to confirm or deny whether the Williams sisters were the defendants in that prior case. This, even though the Attorney General represented the state in that prior case, and even though the specific deputy who handled that case still works down the hall from the specific deputy handling this case.

Rather than admit that this evidence was not disclosed -- or simply disclosing the evidence itself -- the Attorney General denounced petitioner's evidence as "nothing but an apparent printout of an unspecified and unverified Internet source" (See Informal Response, p. 15; Return, p. 15.) Petitioner asked the Court of Appeal to issue an order to show cause given that, pursuant to this Court's jurisprudence, such an order would prevent the Attorney General from continuing to play dumb. The appellate court did so, yet the Attorney General simply proceeded to file an unverified return, failed to admit or deny any of petitioner's specific factual allegations, and continued to litigate the case as if petitioner had manufactured the evidence out of whole cloth.

The Attorney General's approach paid off. The Court of Appeal eventually found that the Williams sisters' prior case was not material, yet its analysis was colored in no small part by the state's refusal to play by the rules. Indeed, the Court of Appeal commented that the Attorney General's argument that petitioner failed to establish the identity of the Williams sisters as the defendants in that case was "a fair point" (See Appendix 11, fn. 1.)

Review is appropriate to determine the legal and ethical obligations of the Attorney General to disclose material exculpatory evidence that it has in its possession. The Supreme Court has remarked in dicta that the prosecution's *Brady* obligations may be less onerous post-conviction. But neither that Court nor any other has ever approved the wholesale willful suppression of exculpatory evidence and potential misrepresentations engaged in here. Given the fundamental threat to due process and faith in the criminal justice system posed by such behavior, this Court should announce the specific contours of the Attorney General's *Brady* obligations before such conduct becomes the norm.

Moreover, review is appropriate as to the merits of petitioner's *Brady* claims in this incredibly close case. Prior to trial, defense counsel made clear to the court that petitioner was advancing a claim of self-defense and that he planned to introduce evidence of Brittneeh's prior acts of violence pursuant to Evidence Code section 1103. Given that the prosecutor never informed him that her own office convicted Brittneeh of three violent felonies, however, this character evidence consisted solely of petitioner's testimony that Brittneeh assaulted her three times over the years. The prosecutor disparaged the import of this evidence in closing arguments, telling the jury that petitioner had shown only that "these girls have been fighting for years," and that petitioner faced the threat only "having her hair pulled" or "a fistfight" and thus could not use deadly force in self-defense. (6 RT 1888, 1903-1904.) The prosecutor could not have made such

claims had jurors heard that Brittneeh and others brutally attacked three women for no reason, leaving them with crooked noses, concussions, and various other serious injuries.

And the same is true as to the prosecutor's misleading disclosure as to Sade Williams. Trial counsel has declared that the prosecutor's statement that no charges were filed baited him into not pursuing the matter further. Had counsel known the truth, he would have ensured the jury heard it, particularly when Sade testified with great emotion that her sister had never been a bully. Given Sade's central importance to the state's case -- and given that the key portion of the case on which the Court of Appeal's materiality analysis rests has been explicitly disapproved of by the Supreme Court -- review is appropriate.

Finally, review is appropriate as to petitioner's alternative claims -- that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to uncover and introduce evidence of the Williams sisters' crimes, and the prejudice from the errors identified in the direct appeal and habeas cumulated to deprive petitioner of her rights to due process and a fair trial. Because these issues, too, involve fundamental federal constitutional rights and important and recurring questions of law, review is appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner adopts the procedural statement in the appellate court's opinion for the purposes of this petition. (See Appendix 4-5.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purposes of this petition only, petitioner adopts the Statement of Facts set forth in the appellate court's opinion. (See Appendix 2-5.)

ARGUMENT

I. REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR VIOLATED DUE PROCESS BY SUPPRESSING MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE OF BRITTNEEH'S PRIOR ATTACK ON THREE WOMEN.

This was a self-defense case. There was no dispute as to who inflicted Brittneeh's injuries that night. The only question for the jury to answer was whether petitioner acted in lawful self-defense.

Given this, defense counsel sought to admit evidence of Brittneeh's character for violence pursuant to Evidence Code section 1103. (See 2 RT 26-28; see also Exh. B [Blacknell Declaration] at paras. 3-4, 15) Counsel eventually introduced every instance he knew about, but this was limited to the three incidents where Brittneeh previously attacked petitioner. (See, e.g., 5 RT 1646-1649; Exh. B at para. 15.)

In her closing argument, the prosecutor acknowledged the prior incidents but claimed it was unclear who started or won the prior fights. (See, e.g., 6 R 1927-1928.) According to the prosecutor, all the defense showed was that "[t]hese women have been fighting for years." (6 RT 1928.) The prosecutor painted the dangers petitioner faced from Brittneeh's attack that night as nothing more than "having her hair pulled" or a "fistfight," and thus argued petitioner could not use deadly force in self-defense. (See, e.g., 6 RT 1888, 1903-1904.)

However, post-conviction investigation revealed that

Brittneeh had previously been convicted in Los Angeles County of three counts of aggravated assault with great bodily injury and hate crime enhancements following a brutal, unprovoked attack on three women. (See Exh. B, Attachment B, pp. 1-30.) The prosecutor never told defense counsel about Brittneeh's past assault. (Exh. B at paras. 12-13.) Not surprisingly, given that it fit perfectly with his theory of the case, trial counsel also declared that he would have introduced this evidence had the prosecutor told him about it. (Exh. B at para. 15.)

In her petition, petitioner alleged that the prosecutor suppressed exculpatory evidence -- in violation of *Brady v*. *Maryland* (1963) 373 U.S. 83 -- by failing to notify trial counsel of Brittneeh's prior case, which her own office had prosecuted. (See Petition, Claim I, pp. 8-17; Memo, Argument I, pp. 25-33.) petitioner alleged that, because this evidence went directly to her self-defense claim by showing the danger she faced that night was far greater than merely having her hair pulled, there was a reasonable probability that at least one juror would have voted to acquit and the evidence was thus material. (Petition, pp. 8, 16-17; Memo, pp. 29-33.)

The Court of Appeal rejected petitioner's claims. (See Appendix 12-14.) According to the court, it was unclear whether Brittneeh Williams was the Brit. W. referred to in the petition. (See Appendix 11, fn. 1, 13.) Moreover, the court found that the suppressed evidence was not material given that the jury had heard that, more recently, Brittneeh had assaulted petitioner herself. (Appendix 14.) Review is appropriate.

The Due Process Clause requires the prosecution to disclose all material evidence favorable to an accused within the actual or constructive knowledge or possession of the prosecution team. (See *Brady v. Maryland* (1963) 373 U.S. 83, 87.) Where a defendant is convicted at a trial in which material evidence has been suppressed by the state, due process has been violated and a writ must be granted without a further showing of prejudice. (*Kyles v. Whitley* (1995) 514 U.S. 419, 435-436.)

Here, the state failed to disclose evidence regarding Brittneeh's prior assault to defense counsel. (Exh. B [Blacknell Declaration] at paras. 11-13.) Given that the prosecutor's own office prosecuted Brittneeh, the evidence of Brittneeh's prior assault was clearly within the actual or constructive knowledge or possession of the prosecution team.

This evidence was favorable. Petitioner advanced a claim of self-defense. In such cases, a defendant may introduce evidence pursuant to Evidence Code section 1103 -- including specific instances -- of the alleged victim's character for violence. Evidence that Brittneeh brutally attacked three women in the past was admissible pursuant to this section, and thus was favorable to petitioner's defense. The evidence was also directly relevant to the jury's self-defense analysis. (See CALCRIM No. 505 [if jury finds decedent "threatened or harmed . . . others in the past, you may consider that information in deciding whether the defendant's conduct and beliefs were reasonable."].)

And the evidence was material. Establishing that evidence is requires a showing that there is a "reasonable probability" of a

different result had the evidence been disclosed, which is "shown when the government's evidentiary suppression undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial." (Kyles v. Whitley, supra, 514 U.S. at p. 434.) If there is a "reasonable probability" that a single juror would have voted to acquit after hearing the suppressed evidence, reversal is required. (See Kyles v. Whitley, supra, 514 U.S. at p. 434 [materiality test identical to prejudice test in Strickland v. Washington (1984) 466 U.S. 668]; Wiggins v. Smith (2003) 539 U.S. 510, 537 [relief required under Strickland where absent the error one juror could have reached a different verdict].) That showing was made here.

At trial, petitioner introduced evidence of Brittneeh's character for violence pursuant to Evidence Code section 1103. (See, e.g., 5 RT 1646-1649.) But this evidence consisted of merely the three instances in which Brittneeh previously attacked her. (*Ibid.*) Evidence of what Brittneeh did to the three women in the prior case showed Brittneeh's character for violence much more clearly than what defense counsel was able to muster in this case. Defense counsel declared as much. (Exh. B at para. 15.)

The jury weighing petitioner's claim of self-defense never heard that, contrary to the prosecutor's reductive closing argument, petitioner faced much more than "having her hair pulled" or a "fistfight" when Brittneeh attacked her. (6 RT 1888.) The jury never heard that, like the victims in that prior case, she faced a brutal beating, unconsciousness, or a concussion. (See Exh. B, Attachment B at pp. 3-4, 7.) The prosecutor's suppression ensured that the jury never heard any of this evidence and thus

never received the full picture of the dangers petitioner faced that night.

However, even without this evidence, this was an incredibly close case. The jury here deliberated for 9.5 hours. (1 CT 168-169, 173-174.) The jury asked for a readback of testimony. (1 CT 171.) The jury then unanimously acquitted petitioner of the greater offense charged in count 1. (2 CT 196.) Each of these objective indicia have long been held to demonstrate a close case. (People v. Epps (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 691, 698 [refusal to convict on all charges shows close case]; People v. Thompkins (1987) 195 Cal.3d 244, 251-252 [request for readback shows close case]; People v. Williams (1971) 22 Cal.App.3d 34, 40-41 [same]; People v. Woodard (1979) 23 Cal.3d 329, 341 [deliberations under six hours demonstrate close case].)

On this record, there is much more than a "reasonable probability" that a single juror would have voted to acquit after hearing the evidence detailing Brittneeh's brutal assault. Review is appropriate to remedy this violation of Petitioner's Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process.

II. REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR VIOLATED DUE PROCESS BY SUPPRESSING MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE OF SADE'S PRIOR ATTACK ON THREE WOMEN.

Trial counsel asked Sade whether, as petitioner testified (see 5 RT 1651), Brittneeh was known as BDB, which stood for Brittneeh Da Bully. (3 RT 1037.) Sade testified that BDB in fact stood for Bitty B to reflect her small size. (3 RT 1037-1038.) The first question the prosecutor asked Sade on redirect was whether Brittneeh was in fact a bully. (3 RT 1038.) Sade told petitioner's jury that Brittneeh was not a bully and had never acted like a bully. (*Ibid.*)

Sade also claimed to have seen Brittneeh get stabbed as Sade pulled into the gas station, while Kayuan Mitchell was standing near petitioner. (See 3 RT 986-989.) The prosecutor, citing Sade's testimony, told the jury that Brittneeh was stabbed two separate times, first when her "bodyguard, . . . her protector" Mitchell was standing right next to her (6 RT 1901) and again when Brittneeh charged petitioner on video (6 RT 1902-1903.) The jury in deliberations then asked for a readback of that portion of Sade's testimony. (1 CT 171.)

Put simply, Sade was critical to the state's two-stabbing theory and critical to the state's portrayal of Brittneeh as a non-violent person. Conversely, undermining Sade's credibility was key to the defense thesis that there were not two separate stabbings and petitioner lawfully defended herself against Brittneeh's violent attack, which was caught on video.

Prior to trial, the prosecutor emailed trial counsel her *Brady* disclosure for Sade, explaining that:

[A]ll witness RAP's have been run. Here is the [moral turpitude] from RAP of Sade Williams:

Juvenile arrest -- 10/31/06 arrest for PC 212.5(c), PC 245(a)(1), PC 422.7(a), PC 242 with Long Beach PD -- no dispostated or charges filed

12/21/07 arrest for PC 487(B)(3) with Lakewood PD; convicted Pc 487(a) on 2/25/08, case number 8BF00075; 03/07/13 conviction set aside and dismissal granted PC 1203.4

(Exh. B, Attachment A.)

However, as noted above, it turns out that charges were in fact filed -- and a petition was indeed sustained -- against Sade in that case after she, Brittneeh, and others brutally assaulted three women for no reason. (See Exh. B, Attachment B.) Trial counsel, upon learning of that case, declared that he would have "impeached [Sade] with her conduct as prior crimes of moral turpitude." (Exh. B [Blacknell Declaration] at para. 14.) Counsel went further, explaining that "after Sade testified with great emotion that her sister was not violent and not a bully, I would have relished showing the jury that she in fact knew her sister was violent and a bully since they had previously committed violent acts together." (*Ibid.*)

In her petition, petitioner alleged that the prosecutor

suppressed favorable evidence within the meaning of *Brady v*. *Maryland*, *supra*, 373 U.S. 83 by failing to tell trial counsel that her own office had successfully prosecuted Sade for three counts of aggravated assault and great bodily injury and hate crime enhancements. (Petition, Claim II, pp. 18-22; Memo, Argument II, pp. 34-40.) Petitioner alleged that, because Sade's testimony was the linchpin of the state's two-stabbing theory, and because this evidence would have allowed trial counsel to impeach Sade generally with prior crimes of moral turpitude -- and would have allowed counsel to show that Sade lied to the jury about Brittneeh's supposed non-violent nature -- the evidence was material in that at least one juror would have voted to acquit after hearing this evidence. (Petition, pp. 21-22; Memo, pp. 36-40.)

The Court of Appeal rejected petitioner's claims. (Appendix 11-14.) Again, the court believed the Attorney General's claim that petitioner failed to establish Sade's identity as one of the defendants was "a fair point". (Appendix 11, fn. 1.) And, because this evidence merely went to impeachment -- and because some of Sade's testimony was corroborated by a nine year old's testimony -- the evidence was not material. (Appendix 14.) Review is appropriate.

Here again, the Due Process Clause requires the prosecution to disclose all material evidence favorable to an accused within the actual or constructive knowledge or possession of the prosecution team. (*Brady v. Maryland, supra*, 373 U.S. at p. 87.) Importantly, this requires disclosure of evidence relating

to the credibility of a material witness. (See, e.g., Wearry v. Cain (2016) ___U.S.__ [136 S.Ct. 1002, 1006]; Smith v. Cain (2012) 565 U.S. 73, 76; Banks v. Dretke (2004) 540 U.S. 668, 701.)

The prosecutor suppressed favorable evidence when she falsely assured defense counsel that "no . . . charges [were] filed." (Exh. B, Attachment A.) Contrary to the prosecutor's written statements, her office *did* file charges in that case. (See Exh. B, Attachment B at p. 1.) Her office then saw the juvenile court sustain a petition against Sade for three counts of aggravated assault, along with hate crime and bodily injury enhancements. (Exh. B, Attachment B at pp. 1-2.)

This evidence was material. Sade's testimony was essential to the prosecutor's two-stabbing theory. Had the jury heard grounds to doubt Sade's credibility based on what she and her sister did to three women on Halloween, the prosecutor's flimsy two-stabbing theory would have crumbled. (See, e.g., *People v. Lee* (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 1724, 1740 [witness may be impeached with moral turpitude conduct committed as a juvenile]; *People v. Elwell* (1988) 206 Cal.App.3d 171, 177 [aggravated assault is a crime of moral turpitude].)

Moreover, Sade here told the jury -- "with great emotion" -- that Brittneeh was not a bully. (3 RT 1037-1038; Exh. B at para. 14.) This was patently untrue. And the events of Halloween show that Sade knew it was untrue. (See Exh. B, Attachment B at p. 5.) Defense counsel has declared that he would have "relished" the opportunity to prove Sade lied to the jury on this point. (Exh. B at para. 14.) The prosecutor's suppression ensured

defense counsel never had the chance.

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