No. S267391

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

IN RE JASMINE JENKINS, ON HABEAS CORPUS.

Appellate District, Case No. B301638 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA467828 The Honorable Lisa B. Lench, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT

I. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY FOUND THAT EVIDENCE OF BRITTNEEH'S AND SADE'S ALLEGED PRIOR JUVENILE ADJUDICATIONS WAS NOT MATERIAL

In Grounds One and Two, petitioner asserts the Court of Appeal improperly rejected her claim that the prosecutor violated *Brady, supra*, 373 U.S. 83, by failing to disclose Brittneeh's and Sade's purported prior juvenile adjudications for an incident that

occurred in 2006 when they were both minors. (Pet. at 14-25.) However, review is not warranted because the Court of Appeal's holding—that, even if petitioner had sufficiently shown the prosecutor failed to disclose evidence of the prior juvenile adjudications, the evidence was not material—is strongly supported by the record and well-settled authority.

According to *Brady*, the prosecution has a duty under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to disclose evidence to a criminal defendant that is both favorable to the defendant and material on either guilt or punishment. (Brady, supra, 373 U.S. at p. 87; In re Sassounian (1995) 9 Cal.4th 535, 543, citing *United States v. Bagley* (1985) 473 U.S. 667, 674-678.) "Evidence is 'favorable' if it either helps the defendant or hurts the prosecution, as by impeaching one of its witnesses." (Sassounian, supra, 9 Cal.4th at p. 544, citing Bagley, supra, 473 U.S. at p. 676.) Under the *Brady* rule, "[e]vidence is 'material' 'only if there is a reasonable probability that, had [it] been disclosed to the defense, the result . . . would have been different.' [Citations.] The requisite 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to 'undermine confidence in the outcome' on the part of the reviewing court. [Citations.] It is a probability assessed by considering the evidence in question under the totality of the relevant circumstances and not in isolation or in the abstract. [Citation.]" (Sassounian, supra, 9 Cal.4th at pp. 544-545.)

"The question is not whether the defendant would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence." (*Kyles v. Whitley* (1995) 514 U.S. 419.) A *Brady* violation is shown where the nondisclosed favorable evidence "could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." (*Id.* at p. 435, fn. omitted.)

"[T]he term 'Brady violation' is sometimes used to refer to any breach of the broad obligation to disclose exculpatory evidence—that is, to any suppression of so-called 'Brady material'—although, strictly speaking, there is never a real 'Brady violation' unless the nondisclosure was so serious that there is a reasonable probability that the suppressed evidence would have produced a different verdict." (Strickler v. Greene (1999) 527 U.S. 263, 281, fn. omitted.)

"There are three components of a true *Brady* violation: The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching; that evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and prejudice must have ensued." (*Id.* at pp. 281-282.) None of these were present here.

The Court of Appeal correctly held that there was no *Brady* violation. The Court of Appeal initially explained that petitioner had not established that the prosecutor failed to disclose the evidence or that the trial court would have permitted evidence of the 12-year-old prior adjudications to be presented to the jury. (B294747 Opn. at 13.) The court also agreed in a footnote that petitioner had not necessarily established that Britneeh and Sade

suffered those prior juvenile adjudications. (B294747 Opn. at 11, fn. 1.) However, assuming petitioner had established all of those points, the Court of Appeal rejected petitioner's allegation, finding the evidence was not material because it was not reasonably probable petitioner would have received a different result at trial. (B294747 Opn. at 11, fn. 1 & 13-14, citing *Banks* v. Dretke (2004) 540 U.S. 668, 699.) As the court found, the evidence of any prior adjudication that occurred when Brittneeh was a minor, approximately 12 years prior to the instant case, would have had little probative value in relation to petitioner's claim of self-defense. (B294747 Opn. at 13-14; see generally People v. Pitts (1990) 223 Cal. App. 3d 1547, 1554 [trial court did not abuse discretion in ruling 10-year-old juvenile adjudication was presumptively too remote to admit under section 352].) This is especially true when considering not only the circumstances of the instant case but also that the jury was presented with evidence that Brittneeh had previously been convicted of committing a battery on petitioner. (B294747 Opn. at 13-14; see, e.g., People v. Leon (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 149, 169 [finding evidence of defendant's 13-year-old prior juvenile adjudication for robbery was merely cumulative regarding defendant's evidence of gang membership].)

As the Court of Appeal noted, the jury was presented with much more directly relevant evidence showing that Brittneeh had more recently committed violence against *petitioner* in 2015 and 2016. (B294747 Opn. at 13; 5RT 1645-1646, 1648-1650, 1684-1687; 6RT 1813.) In other words, "[t]he jury thus already knew

that Brittneeh had a penchant for violence against [petitioner]." (B294747 Opn. at 13.) It is not reasonably probable that information about a separate offense unrelated to petitioner and Brittneeh's dispute would have caused the jury to view the case differently such that a different outcome would have resulted. (B294747 Opn. at 13-14.) Thus, the information regarding the unrelated, 2006, juvenile case was much less probative than the information that was presented to the jury. (B294747 Opn. at 13.) The Court of Appeal properly found that the 2006 arrest and alleged adjudication were therefore not material. (B294747 Opn. at 13-14.)

Similarly, the Court of Appeal properly found that evidence of Sade's alleged prior juvenile adjudication was not material. (B294747 Opn. at 14.) Petitioner contends that defense counsel could have used the prior adjudication evidence as a crime of moral turpitude to impeach Sade. (Pet. at 21.) However, "a new trial is generally not required when the testimony of the witness is "corroborated by other testimony."" (People v. Salazar (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1031, 1050, quoting *United States v. Payne* (1995) 63 F.3d 1200, 1210.) And the Court of Appeal noted that Sade's testimony identifying petitioner as the aggressor was corroborated by the testimony of the other witnesses. (B294747 Opn. at 14.) Indeed, Sade testified that after Mitchell held Brittneeh back from petitioner in a bear hug, effectively creating a break in their confrontation, petitioner walked up to Brittneeh and stabbed her in the lower stomach area. (3RT 981, 985-986, 1000, 1021, 1036; 4RT 1236.) As the Court of Appeal noted,

Abigail V., a 10-year-old who was with her mother at a bus stop near the gas station during the incident, saw petitioner take out a six-to-eight-inch knife from her back pocket and stab Brittneeh in the stomach and forehead. (B294747 Opn. at 14; 3RT 929, 931, 933, 942, 944-945.) Abigail V. also testified that petitioner was smiling and angry, "like a psychopath," before going to her car and driving away. (3RT 949, 951.)

Additionally, Jashanee Spencer saw petitioner moving her hands in a downward motion during her interaction with Brittneeh. Spencer then saw petitioner put her hands back in the front pocket of her sweater and Spencer could see a green handle coming out of the pocket. (4RT 1237, 1239-1240.) Both Spencer and Abigail V. independently corroborated Sade's testimony that petitioner walked up to Brittneeh, stabbed Brittneeh with a knife in the lower stomach, and afterwards walked back to her car smirking and smiling. (3RT 986, 993, 1000, 1036; 4RT 1241-1242.) In light of this independent corroboration, it is not reasonably probable petitioner's use of the alleged prior juvenile adjudications would have produced a more favorable outcome for her. The Court of Appeal, therefore, properly found that the allegedly-undisclosed, juvenile, prior adjudication could not reasonably be said to "put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." (B294747 Opn. at 14, quoting Kyles v. Whitley, supra, 514 U.S. at p. 435.)

As petitioner fails to demonstrate any error by the Court of Appeal in rejecting her claims in Grounds One and Two, and/or that the claims address an important question of law or conflict in the law, review should be denied. (See *United States v. Agurs* (1976) 427 U.S. 97, 113-114 [finding no *Brady* violation by prosecutor for failing to turn over victim's criminal record to defense counsel, in part, because defense counsel did not request the arrest record, the prior adjudications did not contradict any evidence offered by the prosecutor, and it was largely cumulative of the evidence of the victim's violent nature already presented at trial].)

II. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE PETITIONER'S CLAIM OF POSTCONVICTION BRADY ERROR IN GROUND THREE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND NOT A COGNIZABLE CLAIM; IT ALSO FAILS TO MAKE A PRIMA FACIE SHOWING OF ERROR EVEN UNDER THE PROPER LEGAL FRAMEWORK

Petitioner argues in Ground Three that the Attorney General violated Brady by not providing additional evidence during the habeas corpus proceedings in the Court of Appeal to confirm that Brittneeh and Sade had, in fact, suffered the prior juvenile adjudications addressed by petitioner. (Pet. at 26-28.) Review should be denied because Ground Three was not presented in any original petition and is therefore procedurally barred, and it is not cognizable here in any event because Brady is a trial right that does not apply postconviction. Additionally, even when petitioner's allegation is evaluated under the proper legal framework, she fails to make a prima facie showing that California's postconviction process has flaws so "fundamental" that she was denied her constitutional rights and the ability to develop and present her claims, or that the Attorney General failed to abide by its ethical obligations in responding to

petitioner's claims. Finally, even if *Brady* applied, petitioner has not made a prima facie showing that the Attorney General failed to provide material, exculpatory evidence.

A. Ground Three is procedurally barred and is not a cognizable claim

As an initial matter, petitioner's claim is procedurally barred. Petitioner has not raised this claim in any habeas corpus petition before the Court of Appeal. As a result, the argument should not be considered for the first time in a review petition. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1); see also *In re M.S.* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 698, 727 [declining to reach the merits of petitioner's claims on review because petitioner failed to raise the claim in any form in the California Court of Appeal].)

Even assuming Ground Three is not procedurally barred, it is not cognizable here because Brady is a trial right, not a postconviction right. The Supreme Court of the United States has held that an allegation of a prosecutor improperly withholding evidence in postconviction proceedings cannot be raised as a claim of Brady error. (District Attorney's Office for the Third Judicial District v. Osborne (2009) 557 U.S. 52, 69.) Indeed, "[a] criminal defendant proved guilty after a fair trial does not have the same liberty interests as a free man." (Id. at p. 68.) This is because once a person has suffered a valid conviction, "the criminal defendant has been constitutionally deprived of his liberty," and "[t]he State accordingly has more flexibility in deciding what procedures are needed in the context of postconviction relief." (Id. at pp. 68-69, internal quotations removed.)

The California Attorneys for Criminal Justice ("CAJC") filed an amicus brief suggesting Brady applies here, citing to Banks v. Dretke (2004) 540 U.S. 668. (CACJ letter at p. 4.) CAJC's reliance on *Banks* is misplaced. *Banks* conducted its analysis under *Brady* because the issue there addressed a prosecution team's suppression of evidence during trial. The postconviction proceedings in *Banks* addressed and focused on that initial claim of suppression of evidence during trial—the Court simply included discussion of the State's continued denials that the exculpatory evidence existed throughout the appellate and habeas corpus proceedings. (Banks v. Dretke, supra, 540) U.S. at p. 693.) In contrast, Ground Three here alleges a *Brady* violation by the Attorney General during postconviction proceedings. Thus, "Brady is the wrong framework" for petitioner's postconviction allegation. (Osborne, supra, 557 U.S. at p. 68.)

While one division of the Court of Appeal has found that *Brady* can apply postconviction (see *People v. Garcia* (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 1169, 1179), that opinion predates the United States Supreme Court's 2009 holding in *Osborne* and does not control this Court's adjudication of the issue presented. "Instead, the question is whether consideration of [petitioner]'s claim within the framework of the State's procedures for postconviction relief 'offends some principle of justice so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental,' or 'transgresses any recognized principle of fundamental fairness in operation." (*Osborne*, *supra*, 577 U.S. at p. 69, quoting *Medina*

- v. California (1992) 505 U.S. 437, 446, 448.) As will be demonstrated below (see Arg. II (B)), it does not.
 - B. Petitioner's allegation in Ground Three fails to state a prima facie case for relief because it does not demonstrate that the Attorney General had an obligation to provide additional evidence confirming that Brittneeh and Sade had, in fact, suffered the prior juvenile adjudications and that any such information was material

Even in viewing petitioner's claim through the proper legal framework, she fails to make a prima facie showing for relief. Petitioner claims that, during the habeas corpus proceedings in the Court of Appeal, the Attorney General had a duty to provide her with evidence confirming that Brittneeh and Sade were, in fact, the minors who suffered the prior adjudications noted in the Court of Appeal opinion attached to her habeas corpus petition. (Pet. at 26-28; see also CAJC letter at 3-5.)³ The Attorney

³ Although petitioner fails to identify what specific evidence the Attorney General was in possession of that it allegedly failed to turn over, respondent presumes petitioner meant that the Attorney General's Office could have obtained its archived appellate file regarding that 2007 appeal from the juvenile adjudications. The Attorney General's Office did search for confirmation within its limited, readily-available electronic file for the appeal, but it was unable to obtain sufficient information, such as birthdates, to confirm the prior adjudications. Subsequently, the Attorney General did not attempt to retrieve the archived physical file for a few reasons, primarily because verifying that Brittneeh and Sade were the minors from the prior adjudication was unnecessary. Respondent briefly noted that although petitioner was obviously aware of the prior adjudication, she had not sufficiently supported her allegation as she is required to do, but respondent assumed for purposes of the return, as did the Court of Appeal, that Brittneeh and Sade were (continued...)

General was under no such obligation here, and providing such evidence was not necessary in any event because respondent, as well as the Court of Appeal, assumed this part of petitioner's allegation was true for purposes of those habeas corpus proceedings.

1. A petitioner bears a heavy burden to plead sufficient grounds for relief on habeas corpus

A post-conviction habeas corpus attack on the validity of a judgment "is limited to challenges based on newly discovered evidence, claims going to the jurisdiction of the court, and claims of constitutional dimension." (*In re Clark* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750, 766-767.) Such challenges amount to a collateral attack upon a criminal judgment that, due to the societal interest in the finality of judgments, is presumed to be valid. (*In re Reno* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 428, 451; *People v. Duvall* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 464, 474.) "For purposes of a collateral attack, all presumptions favor the truth, accuracy, and fairness of the conviction and sentence[.]"

(...continued)

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